Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-13-2021 Page 1 of 45

FILED 07-13-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

NO. 2021AP000177 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

CHRISTOPHER S. BUTLER

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Permissive Appeal from Order Denying Motion to Dismiss Brown County Circuit Court, Hon. Beau G. Liegeois, presiding Case No. 19CF1630

Christopher L. Hartley
Wisconsin Bar No. 1030601
Counsel for Defendant-Appellant
600 W. Virginia Avenue
Suite 205
Milwaukee, WI 53204
(414) 276-1817
Fax (414) 255-3572
chris@hartleypecoralaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Are there any due process or other limitations on whether, under what circumstances, or how long an initial appearance can be adjourned? The circuit court did not decide this issue, but the Court of Appeals has directed the parties to address this issue in their briefs.
- 2. Does the 10-day deadline in Wis. Stat. § 970.03(2) for holding a preliminary hearing begin to run when a defendant first appears before the court or when the initial appearance is concluded? The circuit court did not decide this issue, but the Court of Appeals has directed the parties to address this issue in their briefs.
- 3. How does *Lee* apply in the context of an initial appearance that has been adjourned multiple times? The circuit court did not decide this issue, but the Court of Appeals has directed the parties to address this issue in their briefs.
- 4. Did the circuit court lose personal jurisdiction over Butler as a result of the continued extensions of time for the convening of his preliminary

Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-13-2021 Page 6 of 45

hearing as he awaited the appointment of assigned counsel? The circuit court decided that it did not lose personal jurisdiction over Butler.

STATEMENT ON WHETHER ORAL ARGUMENT IS NECESSARY

There should be oral arguments pursuant to Wis. Stats.§ 809.22, insofar as the issues presented are issues of first impression that implicate a variety of fundamental Constitutional issues, including due process, the right to a prompt judicial determination as to probable cause, and the right to a speedy trial.

STATEMENT ON WHETHER THE OPINION SHOULD BE PUBLISHED

The opinion should be published because it decides an issue of substantial and continuing public interest pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)5 by determining whether due process rights are violated by the extraordinary delay between the initial appearance and the preliminary hearing, particularly Brown County's practice of adjourning initial appearances.

The opinion should be published because it decides an issue of substantial and continuing public interest pursuant to Wis. Stat. §

Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-13-2021 Page 7 of 45

809.23(1)(a)5 by determining whether repeatedly adjourning initial appearances violates constitutional and statutory rights to due process, the right to a prompt judicial determination as to probable cause, and the right to a speedy trial.

The opinion should be published because it decides an issue of substantial and continuing public interest pursuant to § 809.23(1)(a)5 Wis. Stats. by determining when the statutory preliminary hearing deadline begins to run.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural Status of Case Leading up to this Appeal

A criminal complaint was filed against Butler on October 23, 2019 charging him with one count of repeated sexual assault of same child (a class B felony) as a "persistent repeater," one count of repeated sexual assault of same child (a class C felony) as a "persistent repeater," and one count of exposing genitals to a child (a class I felony) as a "repeater." (1:1-2). As a result of having been previously convicted of a serious child sex offense, Butler faced a mandatory sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole or extended supervision under section 939.62(2m)(b)2, Wis. Stats.

Butler waited for several months while in custody for an attorney to be appointed to represent him. In April, 2020 an attorney was finally appointed but she withdrew from representation before anything meaningful could be accomplished, insofar as she was not aware that Butler had previously requested a speedy trial and she did not believe that her schedule could accommodate such a request. A second attorney was not appointed to represent Butler until August 13, 2020. On September 8, 2020, Butler made his first appearance in court with his newly assigned counsel and completed

Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-13-2021 Page 9 of 45

the initial appearance. On September 29, 2020 a preliminary hearing was conducted.

On January 22, 2021 defense counsel filed a motion to dismiss, arguing that the continued delay of his right to a timely preliminary hearing had caused the circuit court to lose personal jurisdiction over him. (54:1-4). On January 29, that motion was denied. (62:1). On February 2, 2021 Butler filed a timely petition for leave to appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss. (64:1). On February 26, 2021 this Court granted Butler's petition and ordered the parties to brief the issues raised in the petition, along with three other issues listed by the Court. (69:2).

B. Statement of Facts

On the same day he was charged by criminal complaint, Butler appeared before a court commissioner along with an assistant state public defender. (77:2). At that hearing, defense counsel acknowledged receipt of the criminal complaint and waived its formal reading. (77:2). The State then set forth its reasons for requesting that the circuit court set cash bond at \$75,000. (77:2-3). Once the State was finished with its argument, defense counsel reserved Butler's right to argue bond until such time as an attorney could be appointed to represent him. (77:3). The court set cash bond at \$75,000 and adjourned the case for the "balance of initial appearance." (77:4).

On November 20, 2019 Butler appeared with a different assistant state public defender who advised the court that counsel had not yet been appointed for him. (78:2). The court then adjourned the case "for a balance of initial appearance." (78:2).

On December 4, 2019 Butler appeared with a different assistant state public defender who advised the court that the Office of the State Public Defender had not yet found an attorney for Mr. Butler. (79:2). The court then scheduled the matter for "an adjourned initial appearance." (79:2).

On December 18, 2019 Butler appeared with a fourth different assistant state public defender who advised the court that his office was continuing to search for representation for Butler. (80:2). The court then scheduled the next court date. (80:2).

On February 5, 2020 Butler appeared with a fifth different assistant state public defender who advised the Court that her office was still looking for an attorney for Butler. (81:2). The court scheduled the matter for "a balance of initial appearance and appointment of counsel." (81:2).

On February 26, 2020 Butler appeared with an assistant state public defender who advised the court that no attorney had yet been appointed to represent Butler and that Butler wanted to address bond at the next hearing. (82:2). The court then adjourned the matter. (82:2).

On March 18, 2020 Butler appeared with an assistant state public defender who advised the court that "it appears we are still looking for an attorney for Mr. Butler." (83:2). The assistant state public defender then argued to lower the \$75,000 cash bond to \$10,000 – \$15,000, which the State opposed. (83:2-5). The Court ultimately denied the request to lower bond. (83:5).

On March 24, 2020 (after more than five months of being incarcerated without an attorney), Butler filed a pro se "Demand for Speedy Trial." (13). In that demand, Butler cited the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution, and section 971.10, Wis. Stats. (13:1). Butler pointed out that he had been in custody since October 2019 and had not been appointed counsel. (13:1). He further noted that he had a right to a timely preliminary hearing within 10 days of his initial appearance. (13:1). He alleged in his demand that personal jurisdiction over him had been lost due to the untimely preliminary hearing issue and that he had suffered "anxiety and concern due to the case being unresolved." (13:2).

Additionally, on March 24, 2020, Butler filed a pro se "Bond Modification." (14:1). In that document, Butler moved the court to convert his cash bond to a signature bond. (14:1). In support of his request, Butler noted

Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-13-2021 Page 12 of 45

that he had been in custody since October 2019. (14:1). He further noted that he had "suffered mental anguish due to his pretrial detention which has put a strain on his family relationships – most importantly his 3-year-old daughter. Because the defendant is confined, he is not able to financially support his daughter nor be present in her life." (14:2). Buter further argued that "[d]ue to the systemic breakdown in the public defender system the defendant has not been publicly-assigned counsel. His indigency, ultimately caused by his prolonged incarceration has forced him to rely on this system." (14:2-3).

On March 26, 2020 Butler appeared in court with an assistant state public defender who advised the court that his agency was still looking for an attorney for Butler. (84:2). The court then advised the parties that a pro se bond motion had been filed. (84:2). The Assistant State Public Defender asked the court to set cash bond at \$10,000 with any additional conditions deemed appropriate by the court. (84:5-6). The State opposed the request for lower bond. (84:7). The court ultimately denied the request to lower bond and scheduled the matter for an "adjourned initial appearance." (84:9).

On April 22, 2020 (almost six months after first appearing in court),
Butler appeared with Attorney Aileen Henry who advised the court that she
had been appointed to represent Butler. (86:2). However, Attorney Henry
advised the court that "at the time I accepted the case from the public

Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-13-2021 Page 13 of 45

defender's office, I did not realize that [Butler] had put in a speedy trial demand. I understand that speedy trials rights now are suspended [because of the COVID-19 pandemic], but at some point they will be reinstated and I'm not sure that I will be able to meet Mr. Butler's speedy trial demand once it's reinstated" (86:2). Attorney Henry advised the court that she "explained that to [Butler], and I believe he wants an attorney who will be able to meet his speedy trial demands once trials start again." (86:3). The court then sought clarification of the situation from Butler and explained that the appointment of counsel other than Attorney Henry could take a long period of time. (86:3). Butler indicated to the court that he was not sure what he wanted to do. (86:3). The court then suggested adjourning the matter for one week so that Butler could discuss his situation further with Attorney Henry. (86:3-4).

On April 28, 2020 Butler appeared again with Attorney Henry. (85:2). Attorney Henry reiterated that at the time she was appointed she "did not realize that Mr. Butler had put in for a speedy trial demand." (85:2). She further indicated that, "I do not believe that I would be able to meet his speedy trial demand, because he will want one once the Information is filed." (85:3). She concluded that, "We've agreed that I should withdraw and have the Public Defender's office try to find him counsel that will be able to get

him a trial within the timeframe that he wants." (85:3). The Court then conducted a colloquy with Mr. Butler, who agreed that because Attorney Henry was not willing to represent him if his plan were to ultimately request a speedy trial, that was not opposed to Attorney Henry's request to withdraw from representing him. (85:3-5). The Court, without objection from the State, granted the motion to withdraw. (85:5).

After the Court allowed Attorney Henry to withdraw, the State indicated that it had a request with regard to Butler's bond. (85:7). Specifically, the State asked the Court that as a condition of bond that Butler not be allowed to have contact with L.P., who the State indicated was a witness in the case and who the State alleged was writing letters to the alleged victims. (85:7). The Court then inquired with Butler as to his position regarding the State's request, to which Butler replied that he was objecting to the proposed condition. (85:8). According to Butler, the District Attorney's Office contacted L.P. "a couple of weeks ago and told her some personal stuff about another female that I was talking to. She also came to court She spoke on my behalf and wanted my bond to be lowered. And then the DA said there's somebody else I'm talking to. Then these [new] charges against her." (85:8-9). The Court ultimately granted the State's request for the additional

Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-13-2021 Page 15 of 45

bond condition, but reserved Butler's opportunity to address the issue once he was assigned counsel. (85:9).

Butler next appeared in court on May 5, 2020 along with Assistant
State Public Defender John Herman (the 9th different Assistant Public
Defender to appear with Butler at this point). (87:2). Attorney Herman
advised the Court that his office was still seeking representation for Butler,
but that he was willing to argue for a lower bond for Butler. (87:2). During
his argument, Attorney Herman advised the court that Butler was seeking a
reduction of the \$75,000 cash bond to a lower amount of \$40,000-\$50,000.
(87:3). The State opposed the request for bond reduction, pointing out that
Butler was facing a potential term of life imprisonment. (87:4). The court
ultimately granted the request and agreed to lower the bond amount to
\$50,000, along with additional conditions of a GPS device and a 1,000 feet
geographical restriction from the alleged victims' residence. (87:6). The court
then scheduled the matter for an "adjourned initial appearance." (87:7).

On May 27, 2020 Butler filed a letter with the court, requesting a reduction in bail. (21). In his letter, Butler asserted that his request for a bail reduction was "so I can get a better chance of getting out to get a job and get myself a lawyer and fairly fight my case. I have been incarcerated since October without a lawyer." (21:2). He further indicated that, "I have had my

rights violated. My amendments 6 and 14 have been violated. There is prosecutorial misconduct. The DA went and talked to my witness after she tried to bail me out. Told her I was talking to another female and what we were saying on the phone. Which has nothing to do with the case. Shortly after that my witness was charged with intimidating a witness. Now there is no contact between us." (21:2-4).

On June 2, 2020 Butler appeared in court with Assistant State Public Defender Jeffrey Cano, who advised the court that "we're looking for an attorney for Mr. Butler. We had Ms. Henry, but now we have to find another one." (88:2). Attorney Cano further indicated that, "There is a speedy trial demand, but Ms. Henry couldn't accommodate that. It would probably have been faster, but we're in this situation now that we have to find an attorney which probably will take longer now because all of the attorneys in the State are rejecting the case." (88:2). On that record, the court then proposed another adjourned initial appearance in three weeks. (88:3). Butler then asked to speak. (88:3). Once recognized by the court, Butler stated that, "I put in for another bond reduction hearing. I don't know if I can get another hearing for that or not." (88:3). Attorney Cano advised the Court that he did not "have any information on Mr. Butler" and that "I've never spoken to Mr. Butler." (88:4). (Notwithstanding the fact that on March 26th Attorney Cano

Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-13-2021 Page 17 of 45

appeared with Mr. Butler and argued that bail should be lowered to \$10,000 with any other conditions the Court wished). The court ultimately continued the bond as set but preserved Butler's right to address bond at the next court appearance. (88:4).

On June 23, 2020 Butler appeared in court with Assistant State Public Defender Jonathan Virant who advised the court that, "From the looks of the paperwork, the Public Defender's Office is still looking for an attorney." (89:2). The court then noted that the District Attorney's Office had filed a letter with Judge Liegeois, the Circuit Court Judge, raising concerns about Butler not having counsel yet and the case not moving forward. (89:2-3). The Court Commissioner then commented that he was "not sure whether or not Judge Liegeois is simply going to go ahead and appoint counsel for Mr. Butler." (89:3). Upon the Court indicating that it would reschedule the matter for another three weeks, Butler inquired about a potential bail reduction. (89:3). The court then allowed Butler to speak privately with Attorney Virant. (89:4).

After speaking with Butler, Attorney Virant was allowed to address the issue of bond. (89:4). In his argument, Attorney Virant noted that, "this is his 16th Adjourned Initial Appearance" and that he was seeking a reduction of Butler's bond to \$20,000 – \$30,000. (89:4). In response, the State asked the

Court to increase the bond back to its original amount of \$75,000. (89:5). In considering the arguments of counsel, the court noted that, "[o]bviously, Mr. Butler has been before me quite frequently, given how long his case has been pending. And I did modify the bond back in May, added some additional conditions. I think that bond amount remains reasonable under the circumstances. The defendant has been in custody for a long time without counsel. We kind of talked about that before with Mr. Butler. So I'm kind of just repeating myself. But he had counsel at one point and that didn't work out. The Public Defender's Office is still looking for counsel for him. It sounds like Judge Liegeois may be considering appointing counsel for him." (89:7-8). The Court ultimately kept bond fixed at \$50,000 and set the matter for an "adjourned initial appearance." (89:8).

On July 1, 2020 the case was called on the record before Circuit Court Judge Beau Liegeois. (90:2). The proceedings began with Butler appearing without counsel. (90:2). The Court indicated that it had the matter called on the record as a result of the letter that it had received from the State. (90:2). In explaining why the case had been called on the record, the Circuit Court indicated that, "I thought that I should intervene to see how I can troubleshoot getting an attorney appointed faster. My understanding is that there was one attorney appointed already with the Public Defender's Office

Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-13-2021 Page 19 of 45

and that was Attorney Aileen Henry, who I have substantial familiarity with, that she's practiced in Brown County for a long time and she is an experienced attorney who has always had excellent courtroom demeanor. But I reviewed the transcript of the April 28th, 2020, hearing where Mr. Butler wanted to not have Attorney Henry as his attorney, and it looked like because he had a different expectation of the timeline of the case than Attorney Henry did so that Attorney Henry withdrew." (90:3). The Court went on to state that, "You do have an absolute right to an attorney. * * * However, that . . . doesn't mean you get an unlimited number of attorneys assigned to you. At some point rejecting or firing attorneys is a rejection of the right to be represented by an attorney. Now, having one prior attorney and not wanting to be represented by the attorney anymore is certainly reasonable, so we are waiting for the subsequent appointment of counsel. I think we're at the point where the Court, myself, is going to start calling defense attorneys that are qualified to take this case and see if they will accept the Public Defender's Office representation." (90:3-4).

Shortly thereafter, Attorney Shannon Viel from the State Public Defender's Office made an appearance on the record and was asked if he had any additional information regarding the appointment of counsel for Butler. (90:7). Attorney Viel responded that, "we had assigned a private attorney for

his case, and then that attorney was let go and that at this point we essentially cannot appoint. We believe we would be able to appoint – I should say it's our belief that we would be successful in continuing to appoint for Mr. Butler . . . without the 90-day speedy trial restriction. That appears to be limiting our options to find an attorney. A staff attorney cannot take that within that time limit given all of our caseloads." (90:7-8). The proceedings ultimately concluded with the Circuit Court pronouncing that it was "going to contact the Public Defender's Office to get a list of attorneys, private bar attorneys that are certified to take these cases and start calling them personally to see if they'll take the public defender appointment." (90:10-11).

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