Brief of Respondent

Filed 10-14-2021

Page 1 of 48

FILED 10-14-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2021AP177-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER S. BUTLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A NON-FINAL ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO DISMISS ENTERED IN THE BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE BEAU LIEGEOIS, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

TIMOTHY M. BARBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1036507

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Here, for several reasons, the court did not lose personal jurisdiction: (1) Butler forfeited any violation; and (2) Any potential error was harmless and invited.

C. Butler forfeited any violation of section 970.03(2) by not objecting to the Court's jurisdiction at his completed initial appearance, preliminary examination, or arraignment, and by entering pleas to the charges.

Butler claims that the circuit court lost personal jurisdiction over him by not timely holding the preliminary hearing. (Butler's Br. 41–42.) However, Butler has forfeited any objection to personal jurisdiction.

It is well-established that "a defense of lack of personal jurisdiction is waived by pleading to the information."  $State\ v$ . Asmus, 2010 WI App 48, ¶ 4, 324 Wis. 2d 427, 782 N.W.2d 435. Under  $Armstrong\ v$ . State, 55 Wis. 2d 282, 285–86, 198 N.W.2d 357 (1972), "[a] defense based on lack of personal jurisdiction is waived by pleading to the information." Thus, any objections to the timeliness of the preliminary hearing must be made at the time of the hearing and at the arraignment. Id. And in  $Godard\ v$ . State, 55 Wis. 2d 189, 190, 197 N.W.2d 811 (1972), the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the failure to object at the preliminary hearing to lack of personal jurisdiction by a year-long delay in holding the hearing constituted waiver of that defense.

Here, Butler did not preserve and has forfeited his objection to the court's exercise of personal jurisdiction over him due to non-compliance with section 970.03(2). Butler, acting pro se, initially objected to the repeated adjournments of his initial appearance before counsel was appointed in September 2020; however, he did not object to the court's personal jurisdiction or claim any procedural defects when his initial appearance was completed, at his preliminary hearing, or when he was arraigned. And he entered pleas to the charges without objection.

Specifically, at his completed initial appearance, Butler simply requested a date for the preliminary hearing.

(R. 102:1–5.) Likewise, at his preliminary hearing, while Butler cross-examined the State's witness and moved to dismiss, he raised no objection to the court's personal jurisdiction over him or the timing of the pretrial proceedings. (R. 103:1–17.) And also at the arraignment, Butler entered pleas to the charges in the information and made no objection to the court's personal jurisdiction or timeliness. (R. 105:1–7.)

Therefore, under *Asmus, Armstrong*, and *Goddard*, Butler has forfeited his claim of loss of personal jurisdiction due to non-compliance with section 970.03(2).

### D. Any violation of section 970.02(3) was harmless and invited error.

If this Court concludes that the application of Brown County's adjournment policy in this case violated section 970.03(2) or was otherwise an erroneous exercise of discretion, and if it ignores Butler's forfeiture of his objection, then it should conclude that any error was harmless during the period of his probation hold and that any continuing error was invited after he was informed SPD could not appoint counsel if he asserted a statutory speedy trial demand. And, in any event, the delays after Butler rejected his first appointed SPD counsel were reasonable.

# 1. Failure to timely hold the preliminary hearing was harmless error during the time in which Butler was in custody on a probation hold.

This "Court has applied harmless-error analysis to a wide range of errors and has recognized that most constitutional errors can be harmless." *State v. Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 56 n.10, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994). An error is harmless if it does not affect a party's substantial rights. *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 36, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

Case 2021AP000177 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-14-2021 Page 27 of 48

Here, the court could not lose personal jurisdiction because Butler was already in state custody on the probation hold for the first six months of the delay—until March 30, 2020. (R-App. 5.) "Jurisdiction does not depend upon the warrant but upon the accused's physical presence before the magistrate." *Pillsbury v. State*, 31 Wis. 2d 87, 92, 142 N.W.2d 187 (1966). Thus, "there need not be the issuance of another arrest warrant when a person is already being held in custody under another charge." *State ex rel. Cullen v. Ceci*, 45 Wis. 2d 432, 443, 173 N.W.2d 175 (1970). If the absence of a warrant or complaint does not deprive the court of personal jurisdiction over someone who is already in custody, then it follows that personal jurisdiction cannot be lost due to noncompliance with the ten-day period for a preliminary hearing if the defendant is otherwise lawfully in custody.

And, as this Court recognized in *Lee*, "the preliminary hearing is designed 'to ensure that people are not held for unreasonably long periods of time where the possibility exists that the State cannot muster even minimal proof in support of the allegations set out in the petition or complaint." Lee, 396 Wis. 2d 136 ¶ 56 (quoting State v. Brissette, 230 Wis. 2d 82, 88, 601 N.W.2d 678 (Ct. App. 1999)). That purpose was not frustrated here. Because probable cause was, in fact, found at the preliminary hearing, Butler suffered no appreciable harm while his preliminary hearing was delayed. "Probable cause existing at the time of arrest does not dissipate during the time of detention, irrespective of whether the probable cause determination was unreasonably delayed." State v. Golden, 185 Wis. 2d 763, 769, 519 N.W.2d 659 (Ct. App. 1994). In other words, as the court found probable cause to bind Butler over for trial at the preliminary hearing, then it necessarily possessed probable cause to hold him in the preceding period based on the exact same charges.

Page 28 of 48

Therefore, the court did not lose personal jurisdiction over Butler during the time he was in lawful custody on his probation hold—until March 30, 2020.<sup>10</sup>

2. Any error after the probation hold lifted was invited because SPD's continuing inability to locate counsel was due to Butler's statutory speedy trial demand.

Next, any error after Butler was released from the probation hold was invited error. "Under the doctrine of strategic waiver, also known as invited error, a defendant cannot create his own error by deliberate choice of strategy and then ask to receive benefit from that error on appeal." *State v. Gary M.B.*, 2004 WI 33 ¶ 11, 270 Wis. 2d 62, 676 N.W.2d 475 (citation omitted).

As noted, Butler made a pro se statutory speedy trial demand on March 24, 2020, while he was still in custody on the probation hold. (R. 13:1.) Thereafter, Butler was repeatedly informed by the court that his insistence on a statutory speedy trial demand would result in his waiting longer for counsel to be appointed than if he did not make such a demand. (R. 85:4; 86:3–4; 90:3–6.) Butler was told that his statutory speedy trial rights could not be exercised until the State filed an information and that if he insisted on a new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Butler also asserts that the court never informed him of the charges against him or his right to counsel at his initial appearance. (Butler's Br. 34.) That is not accurate. The temporary SPD counsel that appeared with Butler at his first initial appearance waived formal reading of the charges. (R. 77:1–2.) And while the court commissioner did not perform a formal colloquy advising Butler of his right to counsel, it stated: "Just given the nature of this, I expect it will take the public defender some time to appoint." (R. 77:4.) This (as well as the fact that temporary SPD counsel appeared on his behalf) indicates that Butler was aware of his right to SPD representation.

lawyer, it likely would take another five months to locate one. (R. 86:3.) Butler said: "Okay." (R. 85:4.) Representatives from the SPD's office repeatedly informed the court that the delay in appointing counsel was due to the lack of qualified attorneys that could comply with the statutory speedy trial demand and that it likely could find counsel much sooner if Butler would drop that demand. (R. 88:2; 90:7–9; 95:3–6; 96:5.) Butler's insistence on a statutory speedy trial demand—despite the fact that the courts were not open due to COVID-19—is largely what accounted for the delays after March 2020. Accordingly, this Court should conclude that any error occurring after March 2020 when Butler was no longer on his probation hold was invited error.

To be clear, the State is not arguing that Butler invited error simply by asserting a speedy trial demand in the abstract. But Butler's actions must be viewed in the context that as soon as he was released on bail, he jettisoned his speedy trial rights and requested an adjournment of the trial date. He not only did so once, he did so three times. (R. 97:12; 108:8; 109:7.) Butler should not be allowed to create his own error by this kind of gamesmanship.

### 3. The delays after Butler's first counsel withdrew were reasonable.

Finally, if the court rejects the State's invited error argument, then the delays that occurred after Butler was released from the probation hold were justified and reasonable under the circumstances—whether viewed as a series of discretionary adjournments or de facto "cause" determinations under section 970.03(2). Attorney Henry withdrew on April 28, 2020 at Butler's request due to her inability to accommodate his statutory speedy trial demand. (R. 85:3–4.) Butler appeared with temporary SPD counsel on May 5; counsel argued for a significant decrease in Butler's bond (\$75,000 to \$50,000), and the court granted it. (R. 87:6.)

At the next hearing on June 2, 2020, the court questioned Attorney Cano from SPD about the reason for the continued delays. (R. 88:2.) The State then asked the court to expediate proceedings to comply with the crime victims' rights to a timely and speedy disposition. (R. 23.)

At this time, Judge Leiogois became personally involved in the efforts to locate counsel for Butler. (R. 89:7.) At the next status conference on July 1, SPD indicated that it "could not ethically represent Mr. Butler at this time" due to the inexperience of their staff attorneys and unavailability of any qualified counsel to honor Butler's speedy trial demand. (R. 90:8–12.) Judge Leiogois stated that he would start calling attorneys to see if they would take a public defender appointment, but that he was limited to contacting attorneys with the appropriate certification to handle this type of case. (R. 90:4.)

At another hearing on July 16, 2020, the court commissioner made a record of the fact that Judge Liegeois had contacted four private attorneys to see if they would take the case and that two refused and two had not responded. (R. 92:2–3.) The commissioner indicated that Judge Liegeois was planning on calling attorneys out-of-county to see if they would take an SPD appointment. (R. 92:3.) But the judge's efforts to locate counsel where hampered because SPD would not share its list of qualified attorneys with the court. (R. 97:9.)

By the next adjourned hearing on July 23, 2020, it appeared Judge Liegeois had found an attorney from Milwaukee (present counsel) to represent Butler. (R. 93:3–4.) However, there were further delays because counsel needed to complete the SPD certification process. (R. 94:2.) Attempts to certify present counsel were delayed because his office would not put through SPD's phone calls. (R. 96:3–4.) However, when asked to explain the continued delays, SPD

said it had no other options for qualified counsel to represent Butler. (R. 96:5–6.)

Attorney Hartley was formally appointed on August 13, 2020, and the initial appearance was completed on September 8. (R. 35.) The preliminary hearing was then held on September 29, 2020, which appears to have been the first date counsel was available, with no objection from Butler.

Thus, after Butler terminated his first attorney (April 2020), there was roughly a three-month delay before the court located Attorney Hartley (July 2020). Roughly another month of delay occurred due to Attorney Hartley needing to obtain SPD certification. And then a final month of delay occurred due to Attorney Hartley's scheduling conflicts with no objection from Butler.

Unlike *Lee*, the record here demonstrates that the court took an active role in trying to locate counsel for Butler. It repeatedly had representatives from SPD come in to explain the reason for the continued delays, and it personally contacted counsel from out of county to try and secure representation for Butler.

Butler is critical of the court because it never "seriously contemplated appoint[ing] a private attorney at county expense." (Butler's Br. 39.) But there is absolutely no evidence that the difficulty in locating counsel for Butler had anything to do with the SPD rate of compensation. Rather, SPD represented numerous times that the problem was the lack of qualified attorneys who had time available to handle a child sexual assault case with a speedy trial demand. (R. 90:8–12; 95:4; 96:5–6.)

So, the court here was presented with a dilemma: Butler had discharged his first appointed SPD counsel and was demanding a statutory speedy trial; there were no qualified attorneys available to handle Butler's case; the crime victims and the State were demanding a speedy disposition; and Butler was objecting to the continued delays. The court's actions here were commendable; it took a personal interest in securing counsel for Butler. Butler has not shown any action that the court could have taken that would have resulted in a qualified, available attorney being appointed at an earlier time.

In short, the court's actions in this case after Butler discharged his first attorney were reasonable. And the adjournments between April 28, 2020 and August 13, 2020—whether viewed as an exercise of inherent authority or a de facto finding of "cause" under section 970.03(2)—were entirely justified. The court did not erroneously exercise its discretion.

## E. The remedy, if any, is limited to a dismissal without prejudice.

If this Court concludes that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion or violated section 970.03(2), then the only remedy available to Butler is a dismissal *without* prejudice. As this Court stated in *Lee*, "Wisconsin law for decades has held that the failure to hold a preliminary hearing within the prescribed time results in a loss of personal jurisdiction, which requires only a dismissal without prejudice." *Lee*, 396 Wis. 2d 136, ¶ 61.

Butler has not cited any authority to support the notion that the State loses the ability to prosecute a defendant accused of serious crimes due to the court being unable to provide a preliminary hearing with counsel within ten days. In fact, in his motion to dismiss at the circuit court, Butler requested a dismissal *without* prejudice. (R. 97:3.)

# II. Riverside did not apply to Butler during his probation hold, he forfeited any claimed violation after his hold was lifted, and any error was harmless.

Butler also claims that the court violated his rights under Riverside by not making a probable determination based on the face of the complaint. (Butler's Br. 25–29.) However, *Riverside* did not apply to Butler during the time he was otherwise in custody on a probation hold. Also, once the hold was lifted, Butler forfeited any claimed *Riverside* violation by not raising the issue in the circuit court and never challenging probable cause based on the face of the complaint. Finally, any error was harmless because sufficient probable cause to bind Butler over for trial was found at the preliminary hearing.

## A. The *Riverside* 48-hour rule does not apply to probationers in custody.

In Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103, 124–25 (1975), the United States Supreme Court held that the due process clause requires a prompt judicial determination of probable cause as a prerequisite to an extended pretrial detention following a warrantless arrest. In County of Riverside v. McLaughlin, 500 U.S. 44, 56–57 (1991), the Supreme Court defined "prompt" to mean that a judicial determination of probable cause must be made within 48 hours of arrest barring "a bona fide emergency or other extraordinary circumstance." "The postarrest probable cause determination is required to fulfill the same function for suspects arrested without warrants as the pre-arrest probable cause determination fulfills for suspects arrested with warrants." State v. Koch, 175 Wis. 2d 684, 698, 499 N.W.2d 152 (1993). "In both cases, a neutral magistrate is required to determine whether there is probable cause to believe an offense was committed by the suspect." Id. "The probable cause finding can be based upon the complaint,

affidavits, or testimony of complainant or witnesses under oath." *Id.* 698 n.8.

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